
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

ORLANDO DIVISION 

DIAMOND RESORTS U.S. COLLECTION 
DEVELOPMENT, LLC,  

Plaintiff, 

vs.      Case No.: _________________ 

JOSHUA DAVID NEALLY; NEALLY LAW,  
LLC; JRD TRAVELS, LLC; NATIONWIDE  
TRANSFER, LLC; and RSI, LLC, 

Defendants. 
________________________________________/ 

COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF AND DAMAGES 

Plaintiff DIAMOND RESORTS U.S. COLLECTION DEVELOPMENT, LLC 

(“Collection” or “Plaintiff”), sues Defendants JOSHUA DAVID NEALLY (“Neally”), 

NEALLY LAW, LLC (“Neally Law”),1 JRD TRAVELS, LLC (“JRD”), NATIONWIDE 

TRANSFER, LLC (“Nationwide”), and RSI, LLC (“RSI”)2 and states: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. Plaintiff markets, sells, and finances the sale of vacation membership interests in 

the Diamond Resorts U.S. Collection to consumers.  These vacation membership interests allow 

the customers to use hundreds of vacation destination properties throughout the world.  

Plaintiff’s relationships with its customers are governed by legally-enforceable contracts that, at 

the most basic level, require Plaintiff to provide vacation properties for customers and require 

customers to make payments to Plaintiff.  These contracts are not required to be and typically are 

1 Together, Neally and Neally Law are “Attorney Defendants.” 
2 Together, JRD, Nationwide, and RSI are “Referral Defendants.” 
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not fully pre-paid.  Instead, Plaintiff typically finances these contracts, and customers get the 

immediate benefit of vacationing, while paying Plaintiff over time.   

2. Defendants, individually and collectively, target and disrupt the valid and 

enforceable contracts between Plaintiff and its customers. As set forth in greater detail below, 

JRD Travels, LLC d/b/a Timeshare Legal Cancellation and/or TLC Pros; Nationwide Transfer, 

LLC d/b/a Nationwide Settlement Solutions; and RSI LLC d/b/a Relief Solutions International 

(together, “Referral Defendants”) and Joshua David Neally (“Neally”) and Neally Law, LLC 

(“Neally Law) generally market their “services” to timeshare owners, including Plaintiff’s 

customers.  These “services” primarily consist of a promise of a “legal” process to cancel, 

terminate, or exit Plaintiff’s customers’ contracts with Plaintiff—including cancellation of debt 

consumers owed for vacations already taken—in exchange for up-front fees paid to Defendants 

and typically ranging from approximately $2,500 to more than $10,000, with no upper limit.   

3. Defendants use false statements and promises in their advertisements, and in their 

marketing and sales presentations for their “services,” and they engage in numerous deceptive 

and unfair trade practices from the outset in soliciting customers and throughout the process of 

providing the supposed “services.”  These include guaranteeing contract cancellation, when there 

is no basis for same, and certainly no basis of which Defendants are aware when they make the 

guarantees.  These also include statements indicating no further payments on the underlying 

contracts will be required, statements relating to a non-existent “legal” solution, statements 

relating to no negative credit consequences or processes to repair negative credit consequences, 

and statements relating to the ease of the process.  These also include statements instructing or 

suggesting non-payment of the legally enforceable contractual obligations that customers owe to 

Plaintiff, and use of attorneys like Neally and Neally Law to further mislead customers.   
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4. Defendants have no process at all, and certainly none that will result in contract 

cancellation.  While it is true that non-payment may result in contract cancellation, same can be 

accomplished without hiring Defendants or paying exorbitant fees, and same will result in 

negative credit consequences, if not also adverse tax consequences, foreclosure, or potentially 

being sued.   

5. Defendants Neally and Neally Law frequently work with Referral Defendants as 

part of their schemes by accepting referrals of the Referral Defendants’ customers.  

Alternatively, Neally and Neally Law generate some of their own customers, and receive 

referrals of other customers from referral sources other than Referral Defendants.  Neally and 

Neally Law claim no responsibility for Referral Defendants’ statements, but in reality, the 

Referral Defendants are marketing supposed “legal” services for Neally and Neally Law, and 

Neally and Neally Law are responsible for all such marketing.   

6. The referral relationships exist for several reasons, in addition to attempting to 

circumvent attorney marketing rules.  First, the referral to an attorney lends an air of legitimacy 

to Defendants’ schemes and supposedly justifies references to a “legal” process.  Second, 

Defendants think that referring the customer to an attorney absolves them of any responsibility 

for what happens next.  Third, use of attorneys and law firms can easily be abused.  For example, 

Neally and Neally Law typically send a letter of representation to developers like Plaintiff, to 

prevent Plaintiff from communicating directly with its customers and to cause debt collection 

efforts to be directed to Neally and Neally Law, as the customer’s representative, so the 

customers are not aware of the consequences of what is occurring.  This insulates the customers 

so that the Defendants are the only sources of information.  This also serves as an attempt to 

camouflage the scheme, with Referral Defendants claiming no responsibility or no knowledge of 
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what the attorney is doing and vice versa.  Finally, Defendants seek to use the referral 

relationship to shield the scheme with a cloak of privilege.   

7. But, regardless of which Referral Defendant is involved, whether there is another 

referral company involved, or whether the customer hires Neally or Neally Law directly, there 

are no “legal services” being provided. 

8. Instead, Defendants cause Plaintiff’s customers to default on their payment 

obligations to Plaintiff.  This can happen in several ways, individually or in combination with 

each other.  First, advertisements and marketing suggest non-payment.  Second, Referral 

Defendants’ sales personnel—who sell the Referral Defendants’ “services”—instruct or suggest 

non-payment.  For example, they state or suggest that non-payment is part of the process, or they 

state or suggest that their own exorbitant fees are affordable because the customer can or should 

stop paying Plaintiff.  Third, Referral Defendants lead customers to believe there will be no 

adverse credit consequences, which is obviously only relevant if the customer stops making 

payments and opens the door to such communications.  Ultimately, Neally or Neally Law may 

also instruct or recommend non-payment, supposedly as “legal advice,” either directly to the 

customers or through one of the Referral Defendants.  This “legal advice” is given even though 

there is no individual assessment of the customer’s circumstances that might justify non-payment 

or any analysis of the risks associated with non-payment.   

9. Defendants know that default is the only way the customers’ contracts with 

Plaintiff will actually be cancelled.  Without inducing non-payment—that is, without causing 

breach of Plaintiff’s contracts—Defendants cannot provide the promised services.  They know 

that their “processes”—including their advertisements, their marketing statements, their sales 

pitches, and/or their statements and instructions—will cause the customers to breach legally 
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enforceable contractual obligations to developers, including Plaintiff.  They know that there is no 

cause or justification.   

10.  The customers meanwhile are led to believe that the attorney is doing something 

on his or her behalf. There are any number of ways that Defendants accomplish this, but the 

point is to keep the customers believing that the attorney is actually doing something to generate 

leverage with Plaintiff to legally negotiate contract cancellation.  In reality, nothing is being 

done, other than waiting for the contract cancellation that eventually results from non-payment.  

Once cancellation through default is obtained, Defendants claim success, but do not explain to 

the customer what has actually occurred. 

11. Defendants’ conduct exposes the customer to almost certain negative credit 

reporting, adverse tax consequences, risk of foreclosure, and risk of being sued or having a 

money judgment entered against them.  But, far from explaining these risks to the customers, 

Defendants affirmatively represent the opposite and claim that their processes prevent adverse 

consequences and can repair any credit damage.   

12. And, if cancellation never materializes—i.e., if Plaintiff, in its discretion does not 

cancel the contract for non-payment, or if the customer continues making payments—the 

customer eventually grows frustrated with Defendant’s failure to provide the service promised 

and demands a refund.  Or, Neally or Neally Law may withdraw, claiming they have tried but 

failed to obtain cancellation, that they have earned their fees, but the customer is now on his or 

her own.  In all scenarios, the customer is in a worse position for having hired Defendants, 

Plaintiff’s relationship with its customer is destroyed, and Defendants have generated enormous 

fee revenue.  Although Defendants frequently deny refund requests, even if Defendants have to 
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issue a refund—i.e., if the customer complains to the attorney general—Defendants are keeping 

the overwhelming majority of the fee revenue generated without providing any service.   

13. Defendants’ use of false and misleading advertising and deceptive and unfair 

trade practices, individually and in combination, plays a material and substantial part in inducing 

existing members to breach existing contracts and cease doing business with Plaintiff.  

Defendants’ unlawful conduct includes, but is not limited to:

(a) falsely conveying to the public that they can get customers out of their timeshares 

without even investigating whether there is any legitimate reason to do so;  

(b) falsely conveying that they can do this “legally;” 

(c) not disclosing that the same contract cancellation can be obtained by non-payment, 

without paying Defendants’ fees; 

(d) guaranteeing an exit; 

(e) persuading customers to pay large up-front fees;  

(f) persuading customers to stop paying Plaintiff as part of their process or otherwise; 

(g) preventing communications between Plaintiff and its customers to conceal who is 

involved and that nothing is actually being done;  

(h) utilizing unfair, deceptive, and unlawful methods to obtain cancellation; 

(i) falsely informing customers that cancellation has been completed;  

(j) refusing to honor their guarantees; 

(k) engaging in debt adjustment services in violation of applicable laws; 

(l) engaging in credit repair services in violation of applicable laws;  

(m)falsely characterizing cancellation as a success without explaining the default; and 

(n) falsely characterizing cancellation as having resulted from Defendants’ services. 
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14. Defendants’ misconduct gives rise to numerous violations of law, including false 

advertising claims under the Lanham Act, claims for tortious interference, claims for numerous 

violations of Florida Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act, and conspiracy.  Plaintiff brings 

this action to enjoin Defendants’ violations of law, and to recover the damages Defendants’ 

misconduct has caused to Plaintiff.  

JURISDICTION, PARTIES, AND VENUE 

15. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 because a 

federal question is presented under the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a). 

16. This Court also has subject matter jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1332 in that the 

parties are completely diverse and the amount in controversy, including the value to Plaintiff of 

the requested declaratory and injunctive relief, exceeds $75,000.00. 

17. This Court has supplemental jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s state law claims under 28 

U.S.C. § 1367 because those claims derive from a common nucleus of operative facts and are so 

related to the claims in the action within original jurisdiction that they form part of the same case 

or controversy under Article III of the United States Constitution.   

18. Plaintiff Diamond Resorts U.S. Collection Development, LLC (“Diamond” or 

“Plaintiff”) is a limited liability company organized and existing under the laws of Delaware 

with its principal place of business located at 10600 West Charleston Boulevard, Las Vegas, 

Nevada and is a person or entity engaged in commerce within control of Congress.  The sole 

member of Diamond is Diamond Resorts Developer and Sales Holding Company, a Delaware 

corporation with its principal place of business at 10600 West Charleston Boulevard, Las Vegas, 

Nevada.  Diamond is a citizen of either Delaware or Nevada. 

19. Defendant Joshua David Neally (“Neally”), is an individual domiciled in Missouri 
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and a citizen of Missouri.  He is also a licensed attorney in the State of Florida.  He may be 

served at 5640 S. Roanoke Avenue, Springfield, Missouri 65810,3 at 205 Park Central East, Suite 

501, Springfield, Missouri 65806,4 at 122 Park Central Square, Springfield, Missouri 65806,5 or 

wherever he may be found.   

20. Defendant Neally Law, LLC (“Neally Law”) is a Missouri limited liability 

company whose purpose is the practice of law.  The members of Neally Law are unknown, but 

Plaintiff reasonably believes Joshua David Neally is a member and may be the sole member, as 

he is the organizer and registered agent for Neally Law.  Joshua David Neally is an individual 

domiciled in Missouri and a citizen of Missouri.  Neally Law may be served through its 

registered agent, Joshua David Neally, at 5640 S. Roanoke Avenue, Springfield, Missouri 

65810,6 at 205 Park Central East, Suite 501, Springfield, Missouri 65806,7 at 122 Park Central 

Square, Springfield, Missouri 65806,8 or wherever he may be found. 

21. Defendant JRD Travels, LLC (“JRD”) is a Missouri limited liability company 

whose purpose is “travels, timeshare and all other vacation options.”  JRD also does business as 

Timeshare Legal Cancellation Pros and/or TLC Pros, with an office address of 5601 S. Campbell 

Avenue, Suite 103, Springfield, Missouri 65810.  The members of JRD are unknown, but 

Plaintiff reasonably believes Jeremy Willis is a member and maybe the sole member, as he is the 

organizer and registered agent for JRD.  Jeremey Willis is an individual domiciled in Missouri 

and a citizen of Missouri.  JRD may be served through its registered agent, Jeremy Willis, at 

5269 S. Farm Road 141, Springfield, Missouri 65810,9 at 1801 W. Evans Street, Springfield, 

3  An address where Mr. Neally has previously been served. 
4  Address of record with the Missouri Secretary of State.  
5  Address of record with the Florida bar, and return address on correspondence.  
6  An address where Mr. Neally has previously been served. 
7  Address of record with the Missouri Secretary of State.  
8  Address of record with the Florida bar, and return address on correspondence. 
9  An address where Mr. Willis has previously been served. 
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Missouri 65810,10 5601 S. Campbell Avenue, Suite 103, Springfield, Missouri 65810,11 or 

wherever he may be found. 

22. Defendant Nationwide Transfer, LLC (“Nationwide”) is a Missouri limited 

liability company.  Nationwide also does business as Nationwide Settlement Solutions.  The 

members of Nationwide are unknown, but Plaintiff reasonably believes Michael Miles is a 

member and may be the sole member, as he is one of the organizers for Nationwide, he is listed 

as the CEO on Nationwide’s website, and he is Nationwide’s registered agent.  Miles is 

domiciled in Missouri and is a citizen of Missouri.  Nationwide may be served by serving its 

registered agent, Michael Miles, at 1420 S. Enterprise Avenue, Suite E, Springfield, Missouri 

65804,12 or wherever he may be found. 

23. Defendant RSI LLC (“RSI”) is a Missouri limited liability company.  It also does 

business as Relief Solutions International LLC.13  The members of RSI are unknown, but 

Plaintiff reasonably believes Burton Cummings is a member and may be the sole member, as he 

most-recently signed RSI’s state-required filing documents as a member, and he is RSI’s 

registered agent.  Cummings is domiciled in Missouri and is a citizen of Missouri.  RSI may be 

served by serving its registered agent, Burton Cummings, at 402 Christopher Drive, Branson, 

Missouri 65616,14 at 909 E. Republic Road, Suite E100, Springfield, Missouri, or wherever he 

may be found, or wherever and on whoever service as to RSI LLC may be effected pursuant to 

Missouri law. 

24. This Court may exercise personal jurisdiction over Defendants because they are 

10  Address of record with the Missouri Secretary of State.  
11  Office address listed on website.   
12  Address of record with the Missouri Secretary of State and office address listed on website.  
13  Despite the entity designation, Relief Solutions International, LLC was registered as a fictitious name by RSI 

LLC in 2012.  The designation has expired, but RSI LLC continues to do business as Relief Solutions 
International. 

14  Address of record with the Missouri Secretary of State, but known to be an invalid address.  
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subject to general jurisdiction in the State of Florida.  Neally is an attorney licensed to practice 

law in the State of Florida.  Neally and Neally Law advertise to customers and clients located in 

Florida.  They promise cancellation of contracts signed in Florida, for Florida timeshare interests.  

Timeshare cancellation is their work, and the largest concentration of timeshare interests in the 

United States is in Florida.  They direct communications into the State of Florida relating to 

supposed timeshare cancellation, for timeshare resorts and timeshare developers located in 

Florida.  The Referral Defendants have all conspired with Neally and Neally Law, and the 

Referral Defendants advertise and solicit on behalf of Florida lawyer, Neally and Neally Law. 

Referral Defendants do this by directing communications to timeshare owners in Florida.  They 

direct unsolicited mail to Florida and target unsolicited calls (including auto-dialed and pre-

recorded calls, and drop voicemails) to Florida, and they conduct sales presentations and 

meetings with prospective customers in Florida.   

25. Venue is proper in the Middle District of Florida pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391 

because a substantial part of the events giving rise to Plaintiff’s claims occurred in this District, 

Plaintiff owns real property in this District that has been the subject of Defendant’s wrongful 

conduct, and Defendant’s conduct giving rise to the claims set forth herein was directed to, 

occurred in and/or caused damage to Plaintiff in this District.  

26. This Court has the authority to enter a declaratory judgment and to provide 

preliminary and permanent injunctive relief pursuant to Rules 57 and 65 of the Federal Rules of 

Civil Procedure and 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 2202 

GENERAL FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

Diamond Resorts 

27. Diamond Resorts International, Inc. (“DRI”) is one of the largest hospitality 
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companies in the world with more than 420 branded and affiliated resorts in more than 30 

countries and destinations throughout the continental United States and Hawaii, Canada, Mexico, 

the Caribbean, Europe, Asia, Australia, and Africa. 

28. DRI is the indirect parent of Plaintiff Diamond Resorts U.S. Collection 

Development, LLC (“Plaintiff”).15  Plaintiff’s subsidiaries market and sell vacation membership 

points – a kind of vacation “currency” for members to redeem – that provide members and guests 

vacations for life at over 420 affiliated resorts and cruise itineraries. 

29. Plaintiff, for example, offers an ultra-flexible points-based program for 

vacationing at a variety of destinations, primarily throughout the United States.  Members can 

select from more than 40 different resorts in the Collection at places like Lake Tahoe, Sedona, 

Orlando, Hilton Head, Las Vegas and other destinations. In addition, through Diamond’s internal 

exchange program, membership provides members with access to 110 portfolio resorts (that are 

either managed by one of Diamond’s sister companies or otherwise included in one of 

Diamond’s other collections), or hundreds of additional affiliated resorts and hotels, and dozens 

of cruise itineraries. 

30. At the time consumers purchase timeshare interest(s) from Plaintiff, they execute 

a Purchase and Security Agreement (“Purchase Agreement”) wherein the purchaser agrees, inter 

alia, to pay a certain price for their timeshare interest.  

31. If a purchaser desires financing from Plaintiff, he or she may complete and submit 

a credit application. If approved for financing, a purchaser will execute and deliver a Promissory 

Note in connection with the timeshare purchase (“Promissory Note”) (together, the “Purchase 

Agreement” and “Promissory Note” are referred to as “Timeshare Purchase Documents”)  

32. Each of the Identified Owners identified in Exhibit 1 purchased a membership 

15 DRI has other subsidiaries, including many not at issue in this action, some of which manage the resorts. 
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interest from Plaintiff, which Plaintiff financed.  Plaintiff is the lender on the Promissory Note 

and the beneficiary under the security interest created in each of the Purchase Agreements with 

the Identified Owners.  

33. Like most other businesses, Plaintiff’s relationships with its customers are of 

utmost importance, as are Plaintiff’s customer’s compliance with their contractual obligations 

(including timely and complete payments). 

34. Defendants seek to cancel Plaintiff’s contracts, and Defendants seek to convince 

Plaintiff’s customers to spend their money on Defendant’s “services,” instead of paying Plaintiff. 

Defendants’ Fraudulent Scheme

35. Defendants are engaged in timeshare cancellation schemes with no legitimate 

legal foundation designed to induce Plaintiff’s customers to breach their agreements with, and 

related obligations to, Plaintiff in order to steer Plaintiff’s customers to instead pay large, upfront 

sums to Defendants for Defendants’ pecuniary gain. 

36. Defendants’ schemes are carried out by Defendants’ respective owners, managers, 

employees, and representatives, all of whom are acting on behalf of the respective Defendants, 

either in the course and scope of their employment, or as authorized agents.  Defendants have 

taught, encouraged, and ratified all the actions of their respective owners, managers, employees, 

and representatives at issue in this action. 

37. Referral Defendants, and to a lesser extent, Neally and Neally Law, begin with 

advertising and solicitation.  They use websites,16 unsolicited direct mail, unsolicited telephone 

marketing (including auto-dialed and pre-recorded calls, and drop voicemails), and likely other 

16  Including internet-related advertisements and search engine optimization, the purposes of which are to drive 
traffic to Defendants’ websites.  This includes, for example, an internet search for a basic term such as 
“timeshare” that returns search results and related advertisements for timeshare cancellation services that 
actively promote breaches of contracts.   
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advertising and marketing channels to make contact with Plaintiff’s customers, including but not 

limited to the following:   

38. JRD Travels, LLC d/b/a Timeshare Legal Cancellation and/or TLCPros

(a) This business operates a website at http://tlcpros.com, the general purpose of 

which is obviously to advertise the company’s timeshare cancellation “services.”   

(b) The scales of justice are the most prominent symbols on the website.   

(c) The “Why Us” webpage includes several headings, the first of which is “Our 

Attorneys,” which refers to “Attorney Leverage,” and explains “TLC PROS 

timeshare attorneys will file a formal legal demand . . . next a civil complaint will 

be drafted and the developer will be notified of the intent to file a lawsuit.”  In 

large font, next to the discussion of attorneys, the website states "ELIMINATE 

ALL FUTURE LIABILITY.”   

(d) At times, the website has hyperlinked the word “Attorneys,” which linked to the 

website of Neally Law.   

(e) The second heading on the “Why Us” webpage is “Credit Protection,” which 

describes that the timeshare lawyer “will issue the necessary letters, pursuant to 

Federal Code to protect your credit throughout your timeshare cancellation 

dispute.”   

(f) The third heading on the “Why Us” webpage is “Our Risk Free Process,” which 

offers a 100% money back guarantee if they are not successful.   

(g) The website touts the process as “easy” and “quick,” and claims to have helped 

thousands of timeshare owners save millions of dollars in timeshare payments. 
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(h) On the “Services” webpage, there are three services listed: (1) Mortgage Relief—

“if you still owe money on your timeshare we can stop the payments and end your 

debt without hurting your credit;” (2) Title & Deed Transfer; and (3) Legal 

Timeshare Cancellation—low price and with a 100% money back guarantee. 

(i) The website also includes versions of their form contract, which suggest that no 

more payments will be due, state that an attorney or another outside party will 

formally dispute the timeshare debt (without knowing anything about the 

circumstances), and reiterates the 100% money back guarantee.   

(j) In addition to its website, JRD Travels, LLC d/b/a Timeshare Legal Cancellation 

and/or TLCPros has also used telephone marketing.  This telephone marketing has 

specifically targeted Plaintiff’s customers with auto-dialed and pre-recorded 

messages, and drop voicemails, inviting customers to call “Eric” and other 

individuals at (417) 771-5680 and other numbers.  This is the primary phone 

number for JRD, and it is listed on the tlcpros.com website.   

(k) The BBB has a formal “Advertising Review” relating to JRD d/b/a Timeshare 

Legal Cancellation and/or TLC Pros, noting concerns about the money back 

guarantee and credit protection. 

39. Nationwide Transfer, LLC d/b/a Nationwide Settlement Solutions 

(a) This business operates a website at http://nationwidesettlement.solutions, the 

general purpose of which is obviously to advertise the company’s timeshare 

cancellation “services.”   

(b) “Lady Justice” is on the company’s logo, which is prominently displayed 

throughout the website 
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(c) The landing page of the website prominently states, “TERMINATE YOUR 

TIMESHARE.  With Nationwide we will terminate your timeshare.”   

(d) The “What We Do” page identifies several reasons why a timeshare owner may 

no longer want to own a timeshare and has a call to action to let Nationwide help 

“eliminate constant fees and debt,” “stop mortgage payments,” and “get out of 

your timeshare without re-selling” through Nationwide’s “simple, easy, and fast 

process.”   

(e) The “What Makes Us Different” page describes a timeshare owner’s options: (1) 

cancellation during rescission; (2) stopping payments and being foreclosed upon; 

or (3) using Nationwide’s process, which is not detailed.   

(f) The “Terminate Your Timeshare” page describes the option of selling a timeshare 

and the potential perils of hiring a re-sell company, and instead proposes 

Nationwide’s process as a safe alternative to re-sale companies.  What this 

process entails is, again, not described.  But, the website states, “Timeshare 

termination is a risk-free way for owners to put an end to mortgage and 

maintenance fees.”  And, under the heading “Guaranteed Solution,” the website 

states, “The best part about termination is that it is guaranteed to dissolve 

timeshare ownership.  By following the legal process for termination, 

shareholders do not have to worry about any negative effects on their credit.”   

(g) The “Contact” page prominently states, “We can terminate your timeshare!”   

(h) BBB complaints link Nationwide Settlement Solutions with Defendants Neally 

and Neally Law.   
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(i) Moreover, Nationwide Transfer, LLC filed suit against Neally and Neally Law in 

2017, seeking an accounting of funds Nationwide paid to Neally and Neally Law 

pursuant to an “Exclusive Representation and Consultation Agreement.”  These 

payments were for Neally and Neally Law to provide the supposed timeshare 

termination service Nationwide promised its customers.   

(j) The BBB has two formal “Advertising Reviews” related to Nationwide Transfer, 

LLC d/b/a Nationwide Settlement Solutions, noting concerns about misleading 

advertisements and guarantees on the website, and misleading statements in direct 

mail solicitations.   

(k) Ultimately, the BBB posted a formal “Alert” related to this company, noting a 

“Pattern of Complaints” regarding misleading sales presentations, failures to 

honor contracts, and failure to issue refunds. 

40. RSI LLC d/b/a Relief Solutions International 

(a) This business operates a website at http://reliefsolutionsinternational.com, the 

general purpose of which is obviously to advertise the company’s timeshare 

cancellation “services.”   

(b) This website contains a smorgasbord of promises, including “100% Guarantee,” 

“Complete Liquidation—Full Legal Termination,” and “Stop Maintenance Fees.”  

They boast over 58,000 “happy clients,” 53,000 “completed cases,” 10 years of 

“helping families,” and $44M in “maintenance fees saved.”   

(c) This website claims “our services are 100% Guaranteed 100% in writing,” and 

that the process is “worry free,” “easy,” “comfortable,” and “affordable.” 
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(d) The website includes three sample price quotes ranging from $2,400 to $6,995.  

The website states, “Contact us today to get out of your timeshare and never pay 

another maintenance fee, special assessment, or association dues again.” 

(e) The website lists at least 50 different Diamond properties for which Relief 

Solutions International accepts customers.  

(f) On a blog linked from the website, Relief Solutions International has an article 

titled, “What is Timeshare Liquidation?  Here’s Everything You Need to Know.”  

But, the only explanation of the process is: “While each case is different and we 

can’t get too deep in the weeds of legal processes, timeshare liquidation is the 

only effective means of truly severing ties with your timeshare contract.  This is 

the service we offer here at Relief Solutions International, LLC.” 

41. In addition to the examples above, Referral Defendants also utilize other 

companies to further market their “services” and solicit Plaintiff’s customers.  This includes, for 

example only, RSI LLC d/b/a Relief Solutions International having Winterfield Funding solicit 

Plaintiff’s customers for in-person sales presentations designed to sell the “services” being 

offered by RSI.  

42. During certain of Defendants’ advertising and solicitation efforts—including 

unsolicited telephone calls—Defendants sometimes transition directly into sales.  For advertising 

and solicitation other than telephone calls, after Defendants make contact with prospective 

customers for Defendants’ services, Defendants move to sales.  These sales presentations take 

numerous forms, including but not necessarily limited to telephone, interactive online 

presentations, face-to-face meetings with individual prospects, and mass presentations to large 

groups of prospects.   
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43. While sales presentations have subtle differences among the Referral Defendants, 

this is where the broadly false advertisements that are presented on websites are expanded into 

countless false statements and promises, all designed to encourage non-payment to Plaintiff and 

breach of contracts with Plaintiff, including but not limited to: 

(a) False scare tactics including, but not limited to, statements regarding: 

i. What unscrupulous timeshare companies may have done in the past and 

therefore what all timeshare companies will do in the future; 

ii. the owners’ heirs being forced to continue contracts; 

iii. future increases in fees; 

iv. the dangers of other fraudulent businesses operating in the timeshare 

resale and timeshare cancellation spaces; 

(b) False statements regarding timeshare contracts being unenforceable; 

(c) False statements regarding Defendants’ ability to obtain contract cancellation; 

(d) False statements regarding the use of highly-qualified attorneys who will use 

some vague legal process to obtain contract cancellation; 

(e) False statements regarding threatening litigation—i.e., leverage—to obtain 

contract cancellation; 

(f) False statements regarding sending legal demand letters; 

(g) False statements regarding preparing legal complaints; 

(h) False statements regarding initiating litigation; 

(i) Affirmative guarantees to cancel specific customers’ contracts; 

(j) Affirmative instructions to specific customers to stop making payments, either as 

part of the process, or to make Defendants’ fees appear more reasonable; 
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(k) False statements that stopping payment will not have negative consequences; 

(l) Affirmative statements that Defendant can prevent and will prevent negative 

consequences that result from stopping payment; 

(m)Affirmative instructions to not communicate with timeshare companies; 

(n) Affirmative instructions to conceal Defendants identity; 

(o) Affirmative statements as to how long the process will take, based on false 

statements that timeshare companies create delay, when the “process” only takes 

that long to ensure there is time for the customer to default and remain in default 

long enough for contracts to be cancelled; 

(p) False statements that following Defendants’ process will result in cancellation, 

when defaulting is what results in cancellation.  

44. Neally and Neally Law contributed to Referral Defendants’ false and misleading 

advertising and solicitation by knowingly inducing or causing the advertising and solicitation, or 

materially participating in it.  More specifically, the Referral Defendants’ false and misleading 

advertising and solicitation generally relate to a supposed “legal” process to cancel contracts.  

Although there is no actual “legal” process, Referral Defendants make these statements because 

they intend to involve Neally and/or Neally Law, an attorney and law firm, to make the process 

appear “legal.”  Neally and/or Neally Law are aware of the advertisements and solicitations 

Referral Defendants make, and Neally Law’s website has, at times, been the landing page for 

hyperlinks on Referral Defendants’ webpages.  Neally and/or Neally Law also participate by 

accepting the benefits of the advertisements and solicitations—fee revenue from referrals—

without actually providing any legal services.   This is underscored by the fact that Neally and/or 

Neally Law are responsible for the advertisements and solicitations of their referral sources who 

Case 6:20-cv-01516   Document 1   Filed 08/20/20   Page 19 of 40 PageID 19



20 

are performing marketing for Neally and/or Neally Law that neither Neally nor Neally Law 

could perform themselves under rules regulating the practice of law.  

45. Following the sales presentation, Defendants sign up some number of Plaintiff’s 

customers for Defendants’ supposed contract cancellation “service.”  Defendants know that they 

cannot provide the promised service.   

46. In fact, Referral Defendants are not attorneys and do not employ attorneys.  Thus, 

they cannot lawfully provide the “legal” service that they have promised. 

47. But, Defendants know that if they can convince the customer to stop making 

payments to Plaintiff, then Plaintiff may cancel the customer’s contract, and Defendants can 

claim success.   

48. What happens after Defendants sign up Plaintiff’s customers varies.  For many of 

them, particularly if the customer has already defaulted, Defendants may take no further action.   

49. For others who do not have an outstanding note or mortgage for the purchase 

price, Defendants may attempt to transfer the points Plaintiff sold to the customer to another 

person, knowing the person acquiring the points will not pay Plaintiff. 

50. For those with an outstanding note or mortgage for the purchase price, Referral 

Defendants may refer that customer to an attorney.  Some such referrals have been made to 

California attorney, Mitchell Sussman, who employs numerous unlawful and deceptive methods, 

and likely to other attorneys as well.  But, none of those other attorneys provide any legal 

services or legally cancel any contracts.    

51. Referral Defendants also refer customers to Neally and/or Neally Law and pay 

Neally and/or Neally Law a pre-determined and typically flat fee in exchange for the illusion of 

legal services.   
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52. These supposed legal services include Neally and/or Neally Law sending a form 

letter of representation to Plaintiff, requesting that Plaintiff voluntarily cancel the customer’s 

contract, without any explanation.  There is no investigation of the customer’s situation, no 

investigation of claims, no claims asserted, no advocacy, and no initiation of any adversarial 

proceeding, which would be necessary to legally cancel the contract.  In other words, there are 

no legal services provided.   

53. And that’s it.  For $2,500 to $10,000, or more—whatever Defendants can 

convince the customer to pay—they get a form letter of representation that is ineffective.  If 

things go according to Defendants’ plan, the customer will default, Plaintiff will cancel the 

contract, and Defendant claims success.  If things do not go according to Defendants’ plan—

either because the customer does not default or Plaintiff does not cancel the contract—

Defendants just stall for time and hope the customer goes away quietly. 

54. If the customer requests a refund, Defendants will routinely deny same for 

whatever illegitimate reason can be concocted, including the Referral Defendants blaming Neally 

and/or Neally Law, and vice versa.  Defendants will only issue a refund if there is some threat to 

Defendants’ scheme—i.e., the customer complained to the attorney general’s office.   

55. Defendants’ scheme starts with false and deceptive advertising followed by false 

promises of relief.  There are instructions to stop making payments, falsely portrayed as part of a 

legal process, bolstered by false claims of no negative consequences for same.  This is followed 

with illusory legal services, and false claims of contract cancellation.  Everything about the 

process is false, deceptive, and unfair.   

Defendants’ Actions Have Damaged Plaintiff 
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56. To date, Defendants’ misconduct has caused Plaintiffs’ customers to retain 

Defendants and to divert business from Plaintiff to Defendants.  As a result of Defendants’ 

misconduct—including Defendants’ advertisements and solicitations, sales presentations, 

express or implied instructions, and false and deceptive practices—Plaintiffs’ Identified Owners 

have stopped making payments owed to Plaintiff pursuant to legally-enforceable contracts.   

57. Defendants’ misconduct has also destroyed Plaintiff’s relationships with the 

Identified Owners and other of its customers who formed a relationship with Defendants. 

58. Defendants’ misconduct has proximately caused Plaintiff’s damages, for 

Defendants’ own pecuniary benefit.   

59. All conditions precedent to the filing of this action have been satisfied, waived, or 

have occurred. 

60. Plaintiff has retained the law firm of Greenspoon Marder LLP to represent it in 

this action and is obligated to pay reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs incurred herein.  Plaintiff 

seeks recovery of its reasonable and necessary attorneys’ fees and costs from Defendants.  

COUNT I   
FALSE ADVERTISING UNDER THE LANHAM ACT, 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a)  

61. Plaintiff realleges and reincorporates the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 

through 60 above as if more fully set forth herein. 

62. This is a cause of action against Referral Defendants for unfair competition 

through false advertising under the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a), and is within this Court’s 

jurisdiction.  

63. Section 43(a) of the Lanham Act provides a cause of action for unfair competition 

through false advertising. 
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64. Plaintiff is engaged in commerce within the control of Congress because it has 

cognizable commercial interests in its contracts, which fall within the zone of interests protected 

by 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a).  

65. Referral Defendants’ contract cancellation services are offered in interstate 

commerce, and its related false and misleading advertisements travel in interstate commerce.  

66. Referral Defendants willfully and deliberately make materially false or 

misleading advertisements in interstate commerce—on their websites, in direct mail, in 

telephone marketing, and likely in other advertising and marketing channels—including but not 

limited to:17

(a) Stating or suggesting that Plaintiff’s customers should want to cancel their 

contracts with Plaintiff; 

(b) Stating or suggesting that Plaintiff’s customers may cancel their timeshare interest 

without any legal basis or reason; 

(c) Supplying false statements that both imply unlawful conduct by Plaintiff and 

supposedly justify a basis to cancel contracts with Plaintiff; 

(d) Falsely stating that they have a legal process to cancel contracts with Plaintiff; 

(e) Misrepresenting that they have legal or other relevant skills and experience to 

cancel contracts with Plaintiff; 

(f) Misrepresenting that they will perform a service, when they have no intention of 

doing so, and may instead rely on inaction and the passage of time; and 

(g) Guaranteeing the ability to cancel contracts with Plaintiff when they cannot do so 

using legitimate legal methods or without detriment to customer; 

17  This enumeration is not intended to be exhaustive and additional false and misleading statements for which 
Plaintiff will seek relief herein are expected to be identified by continuing investigation and through discovery. 
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(h) Falsely instructing or suggesting that default is a required part of the process; 

(i) Misrepresenting that the supposed legal process to cancel contracts with Plaintiff 

is not default and cancellation; 

(j) Misrepresenting that there will not be negative consequences or default; 

(k) Misrepresenting that they can or will prevent negative consequences of default; 

(l) Offering a money-back guarantee 

67. Referral Defendants’ statements, outlined in part above, are not only literally 

false, but also misleading when considered in their full context.  

68. Referral Defendants’ statements, outlined in part above, deceived or had the 

capacity to deceive consumers. 

69. Referral Defendants’ statements, outlined in part above, had a material effect on 

consumers’ purchasing decisions,  

70. Referral Defendants purposefully inserted themselves into the same marketplace 

in which Plaintiff operates—the timeshare industry consisting of existing timeshare owners.  

Referral Defendants’ false advertising is directed to Plaintiff’s existing customer base, the same 

market to which Plaintiff provides its products and services and to which it markets.    

71. Referral Defendants advertise to Plaintiff’s existing customer base in order to 

persuade them to do business with Referral Defendants instead of with Plaintiff, and to divert 

monies to Referral Defendants instead of paying legally-enforceable obligations due and owing 

to Plaintiff.    Referral Defendants also purport to offer alternative vacation options to Plaintiff’s 

customers who hire Referral Defendants.  

72. Accordingly, Referral Defendants are in direct competition with Plaintiff. 
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73. Referral Defendants’ false and misleading advertisements injured Plaintiff, 

including but not necessarily limited to causing lost sales through the Identified Owners’ non-

payment. 

74. Referral Defendants’ actions have been willful and make this case exceptional 

under 15 U.S.C. § 1117(a).   

75. By this action, Plaintiff seeks the following relief: 

(a) Injunctive Relief, including: 

i. Enjoining Referral Defendants and their officers, agents, servants, 

employees, and attorneys, and those persons in active concert or 

participation with them, from engaging in false and misleading 

advertising, and from engaging in the specific false and misleading 

advertising identified above,  

ii. Requiring Referral Defendants to remove from the public domain, 

wherever possible, and to destroy, all such false, misleading, and 

deceptive materials; 

iii. Requiring Referral Defendants to file with this Court and serve on 

Plaintiff within fifteen days after entry of an injunction, a report, in writing 

and under oath, setting forth in detail the manner and form in which 

Referral Defendants have complied with the injunction; and 

iv. Requiring Referral Defendants to provide notice of such injunction by 

posting the Order on the landing page for all websites they use or control 

and any websites which refer to and/or link to the websites they use or 

control. 
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(b) Judgment against Referral Defendants for damages consisting of: 

i. Statutorily allowed monetary damages arising from the lost sales to the 

Identified Owners; 

ii. Treble damages (see 15 U.S.C.A. § 1117(a)); 

iii. Referral Defendants profits (see 15 U.S.C.A. § 1117(a)); and 

iv. Costs of suit, expenses, and attorneys’ fee incurred in this action. 

COUNT II  
CONTRIBUTORY FALSE ADVERTISING UNDER THE LANHAM ACT, 15 U.S.C. § 

1125(a)  

76. Plaintiff realleges and reincorporates the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 

through 60 and paragraphs 64 through 74 of Count I as if more fully set forth herein. 

77. This is a cause of action against Neally and Neally Law for false advertising 

under the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a), and is within this Court’s jurisdiction.  

78. As set forth above, Referral Defendants engaged in false advertising under the 

Lanham Act that injured Plaintiff 

79. Defendants Neally and Neally Law contributed to Referral Defendants’ false 

advertising by knowingly inducing or causing Referral Defendants’ false advertising, and/or by 

materially participating in Referral Defendants’ false advertising.   

80. Neally and Neally Law had knowledge of Referral Defendants’ false advertising, 

which was public and widespread, and at times, directed web traffic to Neally Law’s website 

from hyperlinks on Referral Defendants’ websites.  By virtue of Referral Defendants’ marketing 

of a “legal” process, Referral Defendants then referring customers to Neally and/or Neally Law 

for the advertised “legal” process, and Referral Defendants paying Neally and/or Neally Law for 

supposed “legal” services for the customers, Neally and Neally Law materially participated with 
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Referral Defendants.  In fact, Neally and Neally Law were necessary and integral to Referral 

Defendants’ false advertisements. At a minimum, Neally and Neally Law enabled Referral 

Defendants to engage in false advertising.  

81. Neally and Neally Law’s actions have been willful and make this case exceptional 

under 15 U.S.C. § 1117(a).   

82. By this action, Plaintiff seeks the following relief: 

(a) Injunctive Relief, including: 

i. Enjoining Neally and Neally Law and their officers, agents, servants, 

employees, and attorneys, and those persons in active concert or 

participation with them, from accepting referrals from persons or entities 

that engage in false or misleading advertising relating to any legal process 

or legal services to be provided by Neally and/or Neally Law,  

ii. Requiring Neally and Neally Law to provide notice of such injunction by 

posting the Order on the landing page of all websites they use or control 

and any websites which refer to and/or link to the websites they use or 

control. 

(b) Judgment against Neally and Neally Law for monetary damages consisting of: 

i. Statutorily allowed monetary damages arising from the lost sales to the 

Identified Owners; 

ii. Treble damages (see 15 U.S.C.A. § 1117(a)); 

iii. Profits of Neally and Neally Law (see 15 U.S.C.A. § 1117(a)); and 

iv. Costs of suit, expenses, and attorneys’ fee incurred in this action. 
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COUNT III 
TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE 

83. Plaintiff realleges and reincorporates the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 

through 60 as if more fully set forth herein. 

84. This is a cause of action for tortious interference with contractual relationships 

against all Defendants, seeking damages in excess of $75,000, exclusive of interest, attorney’s 

fees and costs, and is within the Court’s supplemental and diversity jurisdiction. 

85. Plaintiff had valid and legally enforceable contracts (the Timeshare Purchase 

Documents) with each of the Identified Owners for their timeshare interests. 

86. The Defendants generally had knowledge of Plaintiff’s relationships with its 

customers.  In fact, the only reason Defendants sought to establish a relationship with Plaintiff’s 

customers was because Plaintiff had a business relationship with its customers.  For each of 

Plaintiff’s customers with whom any particular Referral Defendant and/or Neally and Neally 

Law developed a relationship, Defendants had actual knowledge of Plaintiff’s business 

relationships with its customers.  

87. Defendants sought to capitalize on Plaintiff’s contractual relationships.  As set 

forth above, Defendants used false advertising and deceptive and unfair practices to solicit the 

Identified Owners, to convince the Identified Owners that they should cancel their contracts with 

Plaintiff, to convince the Identified Owners that Defendants had a “legal” process to cancel the 

contracts, and to convince the Identified Owners to pay Defendants’ fees for this supposed 

service.  

88. Defendants, knowing they could not deliver any contract cancellation, and 

certainly not any “legal” process of contract cancellation, instead sought to induce Identified 

Owners to stop paying their legally-enforceable, contractual obligations to Plaintiff.  Defendants 
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hope was that, if the Identified Owners stopped paying their obligations to Plaintiff, they would 

be in default and Plaintiff would voluntarily cancel the contract.  That’s the only way 

Defendants’ supposed “legal” process works.   

89. Defendants induced Identified Owners to stop making payments to Plaintiff—

breach their contracts with Plaintiff—in many ways.  These include but are not limited to, 

individually and in combination: false statements, misrepresentations, affirmative statements 

and/or omissions in Defendants’ advertising, solicitation, and sales presentations; conduct; 

express instructions to stop making payments; suggestions to stop making payments; and 

suggestions that Identified Owners’ limited funds be used to pay Defendants’ fees, instead of 

paying their obligations to Plaintiff.  Defendants even presented the issue of non-payment to 

Plaintiff as “legal advice,” despite no attorney performing any investigation into the customer’s 

circumstances, determining any legitimate basis existed for non-payment, or evaluating or 

discussing the risks of non-payment with the customer.  

90. Defendants’ acts and omissions, individually and in combination, were intended 

to convey to the Identified Owners that no reason was needed to cancel their contracts with 

Plaintiffs, Defendants had a legal process to cancel the contracts, Defendants were experts in 

doing this, it was simple and easy, there was no downside, and payments to Plaintiff were not 

required.  

91. Each of the Identified Owners stopped paying Plaintiff as a result of Defendants’ 

actions.  

92. Defendants’ willful and intentional actions to induce Identified Owners to breach 

their agreements with Plaintiff constitute intentional interference with existing contracts. 

93. Defendants had no justification or privilege to interfere. 
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94. Defendants’ actions were not in good faith, but rather were made with the 

knowledge and purpose to enrich themselves by harming Plaintiff, with reckless disregard for the 

attendant consequences naturally, directly, and proximately resulting from Defendants’ actions.  

95. As a direct and proximate result of the foregoing, Plaintiff suffered damages. 

96. Defendants are actively and continuously operating in this manner, attempting 

to—and in some cases succeeding in—interfering with Plaintiff’s contracts and business 

relationships.  Defendants’ actions present an immediate threat of harm to Plaintiff and 

Plaintiff’s customers, and their relationships.  Plaintiff will also suffer irreparable harm from the 

destruction of its relationships with its customers caused by Defendants’ actions, for which there 

is no adequate remedy.  Thus, injunctive relief is warranted to enjoin Defendants’ actions as 

described herein. 

97. There would be no legitimate harm to Defendants from entry of the requested 

injunction, as they would merely be enjoined from performing unlawful acts.  The issuance of 

the requested injunction would also serve the public interest by protecting consumers from 

Defendants’ unlawful conduct and by protecting Plaintiff’s legitimate business interests. 

98. By this action, Plaintiff seeks the following relief: 

(a) Injunctive Relief, including: 

i. Enjoining Defendants and their officers, agents, servants, employees, and 

attorneys, and those persons in active concert or participation with them, 

from tortiously interfering with Plaintiff’s contracts. 

ii. Enjoining Referral Defendants and their officers, agents, servants, 

employees, and attorneys, and those persons in active concert or 

participation with them, from engaging in any conduct or making any 
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statement suggesting that Plaintiff’s customers may or should stop making 

payments to Plaintiff. 

iii. Enjoining Neally and Neally Law and their officers, agents, servants, 

employees, and attorneys, and those persons in active concert or 

participation with them, from stating or suggesting that Plaintiff’s 

customers may or should stop making payments to Plaintiff without 

establishing an attorney-client relationship with the customer, 

investigating the customer’s factual circumstances, and explaining the 

potential risks of default to the customer.   

iv. Requiring Defendants to provide notice of such injunction by posting the 

Order on the landing pages of all websites they use or control and any 

websites which refer to and/or link to the websites they use or control. 

(b) Judgment against Defendants for monetary damages consisting of: 

i. The unpaid balances on the Identified Owners’ accounts with Plaintiff; 

ii. Punitive damages; and  

iii. Costs incurred in this action. 

COUNT IV  
 VIOLATION OF FLORIDA DECEPTIVE & UNFAIR TRADE PRACTICES ACT,  

FLA. STAT. CH. 501 

99. Plaintiff realleges and reincorporates the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 

through 60, paragraphs 64 through 74 of Count I, and paragraphs 78 through 80 of Count II as if 

more fully set forth herein. 

100. This is a cause of action for violations of the Florida Deceptive & Unfair Trade 

Practices Act, Fla Stat. Ch. 501 (“FDUTPA”), against all Defendants.  
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101. Plaintiff is an “interested party or person” as defined by FDUTPA § 501.203(6). 

102. Defendants are engaged in “trade or commerce” as defined by FDUTPA § 

501.203(8). 

103. Defendants actions, as described above, including but not limited to their false 

and misleading advertisements and solicitations, and the conduct of their business activities, 

constitute “unfair methods of competition, unconscionable acts or practices, and unfair or 

deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of any trade or commerce,” in violation of FDUTPA § 

501.204(1).   

104. FDUTPA § 501.203(3) also defines a “violation of this part”—which triggers 

remedies under FDUTPA § 501.211—to include FTC rules and “any law, statute, rule, 

regulation, or ordinance which proscribes unfair methods of competition, or unfair, deceptive, or 

unconscionable acts or practices.”   

105. Defendants’ statements, failures to disclose, actions, and omissions also violate 

the following statutes or rules, which prohibit unfair competition and/or unfair, deceptive, or 

unconscionable acts or practices 

(a) Defendants’ businesses meet the definition of a “credit repair organization” under 

the Credit Repair Organizations Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1679a(3).  However, Defendants 

improperly collect advance fees in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1679b(b), they use 

untrue or misleading representations, and commit or attempt to commit fraud and 

deception on, consumers and Plaintiff in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1679b(a), they 

fail to provide disclosures required by 15 U.S.C. § 1679c, and their contracts fail 

to include the information required by 15 U.S.C. § 1679d. 
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(b) Referral Defendants meet the definition of a “credit services organization” under 

Missouri law, Mo. Stat. § 407.637-1.  However, Referral Defendants charge an 

advance fee in violation of Mo. Stat. § 407.638(1), make or use false or 

misleading representations in violation of Mo. Stat. § 407.638(3), engage in 

fraudulent or deceptive acts in violation of Mo. Stat. § 407.638(4), make or cause 

others to make false or misleading statements to Plaintiff in connection with 

customer’s debts in violation of Mo. Stat. § 407.638(5), fail to register with the 

Missouri Director of Finance in violation of Mo. Stat. § 407.638(6), and fail to 

include required provisions in contracts in violation of Mo. Stat. § 407.641 - .642. 

(c) Referral Defendants meet the definition of a “credit service organization” under 

Florida law, Fla. Stat. § 817.7001(2).  However, Referral Defendants charge an 

advance fee in violation of Fla. Stat. § 817.7005(1), make, or counsel or advice 

customers to make, statements that should be known to be false or misleading in 

violation of Fla. Stat. § 817.7005(3), make or counsel or advice customers to omit 

material facts to consumer reporting agencies or to Plaintiff in violation of Fla. 

Stat § 817.7005(3), make or use false or misleading representations in violation of 

Fla. Stat. § 817.7005(4), operate as a fraud or deception on any person in 

connection with services offered in violation of Fla. Stat. § 817.7005(4), failing to 

comply with disclosure requirement of Fla. Stat. § 817.702 and .703, failing to 

comply with contractual requirements of Fla. Stat. § 817.702 and .704. 

(d) Referral Defendants are engaged in “debt management services” under Florida 

law, Fla. Stat. § 817.801(4).  However, Referral Defendants charge advance and 

excessive fees in violation of Fla. Stat. § 817.802, fail to comply with audit and 
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insurance requirements in violation of Fla. Stat. § 817.804, and fail to comply 

with fund disbursement requirements of Fla. Stat. § 817.805 

(e) Referral Defendants’ meet the definition of a “debt adjuster” and Referral 

Defendants’ businesses meet the definition of a “debt relief services” under 

Missouri law, Mo. Stat. § 425.010.  However, Referral Defendants do not comply 

with the disclosure obligations in Mo. Stat. § 425.043(1), misrepresent the 

services being sold in violation of Mo. Stat. § 425.043(2), and charge advance 

fees in violation of Mo. Stat. § 425.043(3). 

(f) Referral Defendants’ advertisements and solicitations—for “legal” services or 

processes to be provided by Neally and/or Neally Law—violate Missouri Rules of 

Professional Conduct for members of the Missouri Bar, including Rules 4-7.1 and 

4-7.2. Referral Defendants’ in-person and written solicitations—to generate 

customers for “legal” services or processes to be provided by Neally and/or 

Neally Law—violate Missouri Rules of Professional Conduct for members of the 

Missouri Bar, including Rule 4-7.3  

(g) Each of these statutes, laws, rules, and regulations define and prohibit conduct 

that is unfair, deceptive, or unconscionable, and that conduct therefore constitutes 

a violation of FDUTPA.18

106. Defendants’ conduct offends established public policy, is immoral, unethical, 

oppressive, unscrupulous and/or substantially injurious to consumers and businesses alike. 

107. Defendants’ knew or should have known that their conduct was unfair 

competition, unconscionable, or unfair or deceptive.  

18  Plaintiff is not asserting causes of action under the statutes referenced in this paragraph.  Instead, Plaintiff 
alleges that the specified Defendants engaged in conduct prohibited by the referenced statutes, which constitutes 
a violation of FDUTPA, and for which Plaintiff asserts causes of action. 
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108. Defendants’ conduct is ongoing, and Defendants are continuing to violate 

FDUTPA, as described above.     

109. Defendants’ conduct has caused harm to consumers, including but not limited to, 

(1) causing consumers to pay Defendants for services that are not rendered and never could be 

rendered, and (2) causing consumers to experience adverse consequences in connection with 

hiring Defendants and defaulting on obligations to Plaintiff, including an inability to 

communicate with and negotiate with Plaintiff to resolve any account-related issues, negative 

credit reporting, adverse tax consequences, foreclosure, and adverse judgments.  

110. Plaintiff has suffered a loss as a result of Defendants’ violations of FDUTPA and 

is entitled to recover its actual damages, attorney’s fees, and court costs under FDUTPA § 

501.211(2). 

111. Plaintiff is aggrieved by Defendants’ violations of FDUTPA and is entitled to a 

declaratory judgment that Defendants’ acts or practices violate FDUTPA and an injunction to 

enjoin Defendants, who have violated, are violating, or are otherwise likely to violate FDUTPA 

under FDUTPA § 501.211(1). 

112. By this action, Plaintiff seeks the following relief: 

(a) Injunctive Relief, including: 

i. Enjoining Defendants and their officers, agents, servants, employees, and 

attorneys, and those persons in active concert or participation with them, 

from violating FDUTPA, and from violating FDUTPA in the specific 

manner identified above,  
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ii. Requiring Referral Defendants to remove from the public domain, 

wherever possible, and to destroy, all false, misleading, deceptive and 

unfair materials; 

iii. Requiring Referral Defendants to file with this Court and serve on 

Plaintiff within fifteen days after entry of an injunction, a report, in writing 

and under oath, setting forth in detail the manner and form in which 

Referral Defendants have complied with the injunction; and 

iv. Requiring Defendants to provide notice of such injunction by posting the 

Order on the landing pages of all websites they use or control and any 

websites which refer to and/or link to the websites they use or control. 

(b) Judgment against Defendants for monetary damages consisting of: 

i. Actual damages comprised of the unpaid balances on the Identified 

Owners’ accounts with Plaintiff; 

ii. Punitive damages; 

iii. Attorney’s fees and costs incurred in this action; 

COUNT V 
CIVIL CONSPIRACY 

113. Plaintiff realleges and reincorporates the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 

through 60 and paragraphs 85 through 94 of Count III as if more fully set forth herein. 

114. This is a cause of action for civil conspiracy to commit tortious interference 

between each of the Referral Defendants, on the one hand, and Neally and Neally Law, on the 

other hand (not Referral Defendants conspiring with one another).  Plaintiff is seeking damages 

in excess of $75,000, exclusive of interest, attorney’s fees and costs, and this claim is within the 

Court’s supplemental and diversity jurisdiction. 
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115. Referral Defendants and Neally and Neally Law are parties to a civil conspiracy 

as they conspired to commit an unlawful acts—tortious interference—or conspired to commit 

some lawful act using unlawful means. 

116. The existence of agreements is obvious, based on the cooperative referral 

arrangements between them, the public nature of Referral Defendants’ advertisements and 

solicitations, and Neally and Neally Law’s communications to Referral Defendants about the 

conduct of Neally and Neally Law (information obviously provided to Referral Defendants so 

that Referral Defendants could advertise same).   

117. Referral Defendants and Neally and Neally Law each performed one or more 

overt acts in furtherance of their conspiracy, including but not limited to: 

(a) Utilizing false and misleading advertising and solicitation to make contact with 

Plaintiff’s customers; 

(b) Utilizing false and misleading advertising, solicitation, and statements in sales 

presentations; 

(c) Engaging in deceptive and unfair practices to induce sales of their services; 

(d) Cooperative referrals between them; 

(e) Engaging in deceptive and unfair practices to induce Plaintiff’s customers to stop 

making payments to Plaintiff, and doing so on a cooperative basis; 

(f) Engaging in deceptive and unfair practices to conceal from Plaintiff’s customers 

that the cancellation service was default, and doing so on a cooperative basis; 

(g) Engaging in deceptive and unfair practices to convince Plaintiff’s customers their 

contracts were cancelled because of something Defendants did, as opposed to 

default, and doing so on a cooperative basis. 
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(h) Shifting of responsibility between them to avoid issuance of refunds. 

118. The purpose of the conspiracies between Referral Defendants and Neally and 

Neally Law were to enrich themselves, including through collection of fees from Plaintiff’s 

customers that were paid to Defendants, instead of paid to Plaintiff for legally-enforceable 

contractual obligations. 

119. Defendants did not have any privilege or justification to interfere with Plaintiff’s 

contracts.  

120. As a direct and proximate result of the foregoing, Plaintiff suffered damages 

consisting of the Identified Owners’ non-payment of legally-enforceable contractual obligations, 

and by destruction of Plaintiff’s relationships with its customers. 

121. Defendants are actively and continuously operating in this manner, attempting 

to—and in some cases succeeding in—interfering with Plaintiff’s contracts and business 

relationships.  Defendants’ actions present an immediate threat of harm to Plaintiff and 

Plaintiff’s customers, and their relationships.  Plaintiff will also suffer irreparable harm from the 

destruction of its relationships with its customers caused by Defendants’ actions, for which there 

is no adequate remedy.  Thus, injunctive relief is warranted to enjoin Defendants’ actions as 

described herein. 

122. There would be no legitimate harm to Defendants from entry of the requested 

injunction, as they would merely be enjoined from performing unlawful acts.  The issuance of 

the requested injunction would also serve the public interest by protecting consumers from 

Defendants’ unlawful conduct and by protecting Plaintiff’s legitimate business interests. 

123. By this action, Plaintiff seeks the following relief: 

(a) Injunctive Relief, including: 
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i. Enjoining Defendants and their officers, agents, servants, employees, and 

attorneys, and those persons in active concert or participation with them, 

from tortiously interfering with Plaintiff’s contracts. 

ii. Enjoining Referral Defendants and their officers, agents, servants, 

employees, and attorneys, and those persons in active concert or 

participation with them, from engaging in any conduct or making any 

statement suggesting that Plaintiff’s customers may or should stop making 

payments to Plaintiff. 

iii. Enjoining Neally and Neally Law and their officers, agents, servants, 

employees, and attorneys, and those persons in active concert or 

participation with them, from stating or suggesting that Plaintiff’s 

customers may or should stop making payments to Plaintiff without 

establishing an attorney-client relationship with the customer, 

investigating the customer’s factual circumstances, and explaining the 

potential risks of default to the customer.   

iv. Requiring Defendants to provide notice of such injunction by posting the 

Order on the websites they use or control and any websites which refer to 

and/or link to the websites they use or control. 

(b) Judgment against Defendants for monetary damages consisting of: 

i. The unpaid balances on the Identified Owners’ accounts with Plaintiff; 

ii. Punitive damages; and  

iii. Costs incurred in this action. 
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VI. 
JURY DEMAND 

Plaintiff hereby demands a jury trial on all issues so triable.  

VII. 
CONCLUSION 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff DIAMOND RESORTS U.S. COLLECTION 

DEVELOPMENT, LLC respectfully demand that Defendants be cited herein, that upon hearing, 

a temporary injunction be entered, that upon trial, judgment be entered in Plaintiff’s favor and 

against Defendants for permanent injunctive relief, damages, attorneys’ fees and costs, and such 

additional and further relief as this Court deems just and proper. 

DATED this 20th day of August, 2020.  

Respectfully submitted, 

GREENSPOON MARDER, LLP 

By:    /s/ Richard W. Epstein
Richard W. Epstein (FL Bar #229091) 
Jeffrey A. Backman (FL Bar #662501) 
B. Eliot New (FL Bar #1008211) 
200 E. Broward Blvd., Suite 1800 
Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301 
(954) 491-1120 
Richard.Epstein@gmlaw.com 
Jeffrey.Backman@gmlaw.com 
Eliot.New@gmlaw.com 
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